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I. STATEMENT

1. This docket concerns Civil Penalty Assessment Notice (CPAN) No. 72745 issued by Commission Staff (Staff) against Pleasant Journey, LLC (Respondent or Pleasant).  In CPAN No. 72745, Staff alleged six violations of Commission rules:

(
Count 1—one violation of 4 Code of Colorado Regulations (CCR) 723-15-2.1 and 49 C.F.R. § 391.51(a) (no driver qualification file);
 and

(
Counts 2-6—five violations of 4 CCR 723-15-2.1 and 49 C.F.R. § 395.8 (no record of duty status).

Staff proposed a $200 penalty for each alleged violation, resulting in a total proposed civil penalty of $1,200.

2. By notice, the Commission set this matter for hearing on January 20, 2005 and assigned an Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) to conduct that hearing.

3. At the appointed time, the undersigned ALJ convened the hearing in this case.  Staff appeared through counsel and Pleasant appeared through its owner, Paul Arzberger.  Since Respondent is a limited liability company, the ALJ first confirmed that Mr. Arzberger is authorized to appear on its behalf.  That is, in response to questioning from the ALJ, Mr. Arzberger confirmed that Pleasant is a closely-held entity under § 13-1-127, C.R.S. (i.e.,  no more than three owners), and that, as the sole owner, he is authorized to appear on its behalf.  Staff’s proposed civil penalty assessment in this case is $1,200; therefore, the matter in controversy is less than $10,000.  Given these facts, the ALJ concluded that Mr. Arzberger, a non-attorney, could represent the Respondent in this case pursuant to § 13-1-127, C.R.S.

4. At hearing, Staff presented the direct and rebuttal testimony of Mr. Ted Barrett, a Senior Compliance Investigator with the Commission.  Mr. Arzberger presented testimony on behalf of Pleasant.  Exhibits 1 through 4 were identified, offered, and admitted into evidence.  And, on January 27, 2005, the parties filed closing statements of position.

5. In accordance with § 40-6-109, C.R.S., the ALJ now transmits to the Commission the record and exhibits in this proceeding along with this written recommended decision.

II. FINDINGS OF FACT

6. Mr. Lux, a Compliance Investigator with Staff, conducted a Safety and Compliance Review of Pleasant in May 2002.  On that review, Mr. Lux cited Pleasant for the same violations of Commission rules that are at issue under CPAN No. 72745.  Specifically, Mr. Lux cited Respondent for 1 violation of the requirement relating to the driver qualification file (49 C.F.R. § 391.51(a)) and 30 violations of the requirement relating to record of duty status (49 C.F.R. § 395.8(a)).  Mr. Arzberger signed the Safety & Compliance Recap Worksheet acknowledging Staff’s allegations of violations of Commission rules, and that the alleged violations had been explained to him.  See Exhibit 1.

7. In November 2004, Mr. Barrett conducted another Safety Compliance Review of Pleasant.  Mr. Barrett gave Mr. Arzberger advance notification, approximately two weeks, of the upcoming review.  Based upon that review, Mr. Barrett issued CPAN No. 72745 citing Respondent for the violations noted above (i.e., no driver qualification file and no record of duty status).  Staff emphasizes that the violations cited in the November, 2004 review were also cited in the May 2002 review.

8. Rule 391.51(a)
 requires a motor carrier, such as Pleasant, to maintain a driver qualification file for each driver it employs.  The specific information required for the driver qualification file is listed in Rule 391.51(b).  In this case, Mr. Arzberger admitted at hearing that he had failed to maintain the driver qualification file required by the rule, as alleged by Staff, essentially stating that this was an oversight on his part.  Mr. Arzberger testified that he has since obtained the required information for the driver qualification file missing for the November review: a record of his medical examination
 and his driving safety record.

9. Rule 395.8(a)
 requires motor carriers to maintain a record of duty status for each driver for each 24-hour period, using a specified grid (Rule 395.8(a)(1)) or an automatic-on-board recording device (Rule 395.8(a)(2)).  These requirements are detailed and comprehensive.  However, Commission Rule 7.2
 states that Rule 395.8 shall not apply to certain drivers (i.e., 100-air-mile-radius drivers operating motor vehicles with a GVWR or GCWR of less than 10,001 pounds and that are designed to transport 15 people or less), if the motor carrier maintains time records for a period of six months showing:

(a
the time the driver reports for duty each day;

(b)
the time the driver is released from duty each day; and

(c)
the total number of hours the driver is on duty each day.

10. Staff contends that Pleasant did not comply with the requirements of either Rule 395.8(a) or Commission Rule 7.2.  During the November review, Mr. Arzberger did provide records, apparently driver daily logs, showing driver times-in and times-out.  Mr. Barrett acknowledged examining such records on his review.  However, Mr. Barrett states that these records did not comply with Rule 7.2 because they failed to document the total number of hours of driver duty (item (c), in paragraph 9).

11. Mr. Arzberger argues that Pleasant fully complied with Commission requirements regarding records of duty status.  Apparently, Mr. Arzberger believes his records complied with Commission Rule 7.2 (instead of the more detailed requirements in Rule 395.8(a)).  Mr. Arzberger testified that he customarily enters the information from the driver daily logs into his computer at the end of each week, thus generating a weekly report.  According to Mr. Arzberger, those weekly reports contain all information required by Rule 7.2, including the total number of hours the driver is on duty.  Mr. Arzberger presented Exhibit 4, weekly reports for a number of dates including the dates at issue in Counts 2 through 6.

Mr. Arzberger further testified:  Pleasant’s weekly reports, which demonstrate full compliance with Rule 7.2 for the dates in question, existed on the day of the November review.  However, on the day of Mr. Barrett’s inspection the computer printer was inoperative.  Therefore, Mr. Arzberger was unable to print copies of the records for Mr. Barrett that would have demonstrated full compliance with Rule 7.2.  Mr. Arzberger testified that he invited Mr. Barrett to view the records of duty status (i.e., the weekly reports for the dates in question) on his computer monitor, but Mr. Barrett refused.

12. Mr. Barrett recalled Mr. Arzberger stating that the computer was inoperative.  Mr. Barrett did not recall any claim of a defective printer.  Even if Pleasant’s weekly report complied with Rule 7.2—Staff questions whether it does—that document is irrelevant, Staff asserts, because it was not available to Mr. Barrett on the date of his review.  In general, Mr. Barrett disputes the assertion that he was invited to examine the records of duty status on the computer monitor.

13. Staff requests that the Commission assess the maximum penalty against the Respondent (i.e., $1,200).  According to Staff, Pleasant violated the same rules in the May 2002 and November 2004 compliance reviews.  These recurring violations justify the maximum sanction to emphasize to Pleasant the importance of complying with rules intended to preserve the public safety.

14. Pleasant requests that Counts 2 through 6 be dismissed because its weekly report fully complied with Commission rules regarding record of duty status.  Additionally, while he admits a violation of Rule 391.51(a) (regarding the driver qualification file) Mr. Arzberger requests that the maximum penalty not be assessed, because he is a “one-man operation…just trying to keep my head above water….”  And, Pleasant has operated for three years with no prior complaints from the public or the Commission.

III. DISCUSSION

15. With respect to Count 1 (no driver qualification file) the ALJ assesses $200, the maximum penalty.  Mr. Arzberger admitted this violation; therefore no question exists regarding Pleasant’s liability.  The ALJ agrees with Staff that an aggravating factor exists.  Specifically, Staff cited Pleasant for this same violation in the May 2002 Safety and Compliance Review.  Mr. Arzberger’s explanation for this second violation was essentially that this was simply an oversight.  The ALJ agrees with Staff that the maximum penalty will, hopefully, impress upon Pleasant the importance of complying with public safety rules.

16. With respect to Counts 2 through 6 (records of duty status), the ALJ concludes that Staff has carried its burden of proving these violations.  This is, in large measure, a matter of judging which witness was more credible:  Mr. Arzberger claims that the required records, the weekly reports, were available on the day of the review on his computer and that he invited Mr. Barrett to examine those records on the computer monitor.  Mr. Barrett, on the other hand, disputes that the records were made available in any manner on the day of his review.  The ALJ finds Staff’s position to be more persuasive.  Therefore, the ALJ concludes that Pleasant did violate the Commission requirements relating to records of duty status as alleged in Counts 2 through 6.

17. However, because the record presents significant mitigating factors, the ALJ rejects Staff’s request to impose the maximum penalty for Counts 2 through 6.  First, it is apparent that Mr. Arzberger attempted to comply with Rule 7.2 by keeping driver daily logs.  Those logs contained 2 out of 3 items of information required by the rule:  driver times-in and driver times-out.  The one item of information missing from the logs was the total number of hours of driver duty.  The ALJ concludes that Pleasant made a genuine effort to comply with the rule, and, in fact, did comply with portions of the rule.  In Staff’s advocacy for the maximum penalty, Pleasant would suffer no greater penalty by having maintained no records of duty status, as compared to having made substantial effort to maintain records that contained much of the information required by the rule.

18. Second, the record indicates that Pleasant is a small carrier and, as a carrier certificated by the Commission, is providing a necessary transportation service to the public.  The ALJ concludes that a  penalty of $1,000 (the maximum for Counts 2 through 6) may present a hardship to Pleasant.

19. Finally, according to the record there have been no other complaints against Pleasant by members of the public or the Commission during its three years of operation.

20. Given these significant mitigating factors, the ALJ assesses a civil penalty of approximately one-third the maximum (or $330) for the violations listed in Counts 2 through 6.

21. The ALJ does not minimize the significance of Pleasant now having been cited twice for violating the rules regarding record of duty status.  As noted above, the ALJ concludes that Pleasant did make significant efforts to comply with the rules after the May 2002 review, even if those efforts were not entirely compliant.  Now having been subjected to a civil penalty proceeding, Pleasant should understand that full compliance with the rules is important and that, in all likelihood, it will be difficult for the Commission to find any mitigation for future violations of the same rules.

22. In accordance with § 40-6-109, C.R.S., the ALJ recommends that the Commission enter the following Order.

IV. ORDER
A. The Commission Orders That:

1. Respondent Pleasant Journey, LLC is assessed a civil penalty in the amount of $200 in connection with Count 1 of Civil Penalty Assessment Notice No. 72745.  Respondent Pleasant Journey, LLC is assessed a civil penalty in the amount of $330 in connection with Counts 2 through 6 of Civil Penalty Assessment Notice No. 72745.  Pleasant Journey, LLC shall pay the total assessed penalty of $530 within ten days of the effective date of this Order.

2. This Recommended Decision shall be effective on the day it becomes the Decision of the Commission, if that is the case, and is entered as of the date above.  

3. As provided by § 40-6-109, C.R.S., copies of this Recommended Decision shall be served upon the parties, who may file exceptions to it.  

If no exceptions are filed within 20 days after service or within any extended period of time authorized, or unless the decision is stayed by the Commission upon its own motion, the recommended decision shall become the decision of the Commission and subject to the provisions of § 40-6-114, C.R.S.

If a party seeks to amend, modify, annul, or reverse basic findings of fact in its exceptions, that party must request and pay for a transcript to be filed, or the parties may stipulate to portions of the transcript according to the procedure stated in § 40-6-113, C.R.S.  If no transcript or stipulation is filed, the Commission is bound by the facts set out by the administrative law judge and the parties cannot challenge these facts.  This will limit what the Commission can review if exceptions are filed.

4. If exceptions to this Decision are filed, they shall not exceed 30 pages in length, unless the Commission for good cause shown permits this limit to be exceeded.
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�  Commission Rule 4 CCR 723-15-2.1 incorporates by reference the federal rules discussed here.


�  49 C.F.R. § 391.51(a).


�  Mr. Arzberger is the driver for Pleasant.


�  49 C.F.R. § 395.8(a).


�  4 CCR 723-15.


� 4 CCR 723-15-7.2.5.
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